**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals**

---

**APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA  
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION**

---

WCC File No. 1113278  
Appellate Case No. 2013-000764

---

Gary Jeter, Jr., Employee, Respondent,

v.

All My Sons Moving & Storage, Inc., Employer,

and

Hartford Insurance Company of the Midwest, Carrier, Defendants,

Of Whom Hartford Insurance Company of the Midwest is the Appellant.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

**RECEIVED**

JUN 07 2013

**SC Court of Appeals**

Greenville, South Carolina  
June 5, 2013

Myada O. El-Sawi, Esquire  
S.C. Bar. No. 100362  
Post Office Box 1509  
Greenville, SC 29602  
Telephone: 864-552-4611

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. DID THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERR IN FINDING AS A FACT AND CONCLUDING AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT GARY JETER SUSTAINED A COMPENSABLE INJURY BY ACCIDENT ARISING OUT OF AND IN THE COURSE AND SCOPE OF HIS EMPLOYMENT WITH ALL MY SONS MOVING & STORAGE, INC. ON SEPTEMBER 23, 2011?
  
- II. DID THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERR IN FINDING AS A FACT AND CONCLUDING AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT GARY JETER IS ENTITLED TO PAST AND ONGOING TEMPORARY TOTAL DISABILITY COMPENSATION UNTIL HE REACHES "MAXIMUM MEDICAL IMPROVEMENT" WITH RESPECT TO ALL OF HIS WORK INJURIES?
  
- III. DID THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERR IN FINDING AS FACT AND CONCLUDING AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT GARY JETER IS ENTITLED TO ONGOING MEDICAL TREATMENT FOR HIS ALLEGED BACK, NECK, AND LEFT ARM INJURIES?
  
- IV. DID THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION LACK SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION OVER THIS MATTER IN THE ABSENCE OF AN EMPLOYEE/EMPLOYER RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN GARY JETER AND STRATEGIC OUTSOURCING, INC., THE INSURED EMPLOYER?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter initially came before the Commission based upon an alleged injury to Gary Jeter, Jr.'s (hereinafter Respondent) neck, back, bilateral shoulders, left arm, left hand and fingers, and headaches as a result of an accident that occurred on or about September 23, 2011, while Respondent was in the employ of All My Sons Moving & Storage, Inc. (hereinafter All My Sons). Respondent was employed as a laborer, moving furniture, for All My Sons on the date of the alleged accident.

Respondent filed a Form 50, requesting a hearing, on October 4, 2011. A hearing to determine the issues as set forth on the Form 50 and by operation of Regulation 67-603 was scheduled to occur on December 16, 2011; however, the hearing was postponed. The reset hearing notice was issued on December 22, 2011, and a hearing was held on January 24, 2012 with the Honorable Avery B. Wilkerson, Jr. presiding. A formal decision on Respondent's entitlement to benefits was held in abeyance pending a resolution of the coverage issue at a supplemental proceeding.

Commissioner Wilkerson issued an Order dated August 21, 2012 in which he found Respondent's back, neck, and left arm compensable. (Decision & Order, p. 12). Commissioner Wilkerson also ordered Appellant to provide ongoing medical treatment for Respondent's back, neck, and left arm. Moreover, Appellant was ordered to continue paying Respondent temporary total disability compensation until Respondent reaches maximum medical improvement. (Decision & Order, p. 13). Appellant filed a timely Form 30, Request for Commission Review, on August 31, 2012.

This matter came before the Full Commission on December 18, 2012. The Appellate Panel issued an Order dated March 12, 2013, in which it fully affirmed Commissioner

Wilkerson's Single Commission Order. From this decision, on April 8, 2013, Appellant filed a Notice of Intent to Appeal to this Honorable Court and a Petition for Review of the Decision and Order of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Respondent is a thirty-four year old male who was employed by All My Sons Moving & Storage on or about September 23, 2011, when he allegedly sustained an injury to his neck, back, bilateral shoulders, left arm, left hand and fingers. He also alleges that he experiences headaches as a result of this incident. Respondent testified that his foregoing injuries occurred when Frank Fantigati (hereinafter Fantigati), the owner of All My Sons, grabbed Respondent by his neck and lifted him upward. (Hr'g. Tr. January, 24, 2011, 27: 18-23).

Respondent's alleged work injuries occurred on a Friday, and Respondent testified that his pain worsened the following day. (Hr'g. Tr. January, 24, 2011, 41: 20). Despite his alleged worsened pain, Respondent continued working on Friday and returned to work on Saturday, where he continued his normal job duties of moving furniture. (Hr'g. Tr. January, 24, 2011, 43: 6-8; 55:9-12; 56:1-6). It was not until Monday, September 26, 2011 that Respondent sought medical attention at Greenville Hospital System (GHS) with Dr. Bertolami (APA, p. 1-11). Dr. Bertolami's primary diagnosis was a neck sprain and the additional diagnosis was thumb pain. (APA, p. 2). Dr. Bertolami also gave Respondent a work release form enabling him to return to work. (APA, p. 4). Respondent returned to GHS on October 9, 2011 where he treated with Dr. Mills (APA, p. 12-14). The diagnosis was a neck strain. (APA, p. 13). On November 16, 2011, Respondent was seen by Joyce Cook, a nurse practitioner, for his neck pain. (Respondent's Supplemental APA, p. 25). Respondent also complained of some low back pain and radiating

symptoms of left arm tingling and pain into his thumb (Respondent's Supplemental APA, pp. 25-28).

Additionally, Respondent had several MRIs and a CT scan performed. All results were normal. The MRI of the cervical spine dated September 26, 2011 revealed osteophyte formation, but no acute fracture or subluxation were present. (APA, p. 6). Moreover, the prevertebral soft tissues were within normal limits and the disc spaces were well-maintained (APA, p. 6). A MRI was also performed on Respondent's left hand, and the results showed no evidence of acute fracture or subluxation of the left hand. (APA, p. 7). Later, a CT of the cervical spine dated October 18, 2011 showed that Respondent suffered only from spondylitic changes and mild degenerative changes. (APA, p. 16). Furthermore, Respondent's MRI results, dated December 6, 2011 reveal that Respondent has mild multilevel degenerative disc disease throughout the cervical spine, without evidence of neural impingement. (APA, p. 20B). No herniation or spinal stenosis was seen. (APA, p. 20A).

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The Appellate Court in a workers' compensation appeal has the authority to review the facts to determine whether or not there is any competent evidence to support the findings of the fact-finding body. Arnold v. Benjamin Booth Co., 257 S.C. 337, 185 S.E. 2d 830 (1971). To this end, an award of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission may be reversed if there is an absence of substantial competent evidence to support it. See Linen v. Ruscon Construction Co., 286 S.C. 67, 332 S.E. 2d 211 (1985); Cross v. Concrete Materials, 236 S.C. 440, 114 S.E. 2d 828 (1960).

In assessing the term "substantial evidence", South Carolina Appellate Courts have ruled that such is not a mere scintilla of evidence, nor evidence viewed blindly from one side of the

case, but is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusions the administrative agency reached in order to justify its action. See Sharpe v. Case Produce, Inc., 336 S.C. 154, 519 S.E. 2d 102 (1999); Muir v. C. R. Bard, Inc., 336 S.C. 266, 519 S.E. 2d 583 (Ct. App. 1999).

Moreover, an Appellate Court has the authority to reverse or modify the Decision of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission if the substantial rights of an Appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions or decisions are affected by an error of law. See Etheredge v. Monsanto Co., 349 S.C. 451, 562 S.E.2d 679 (Ct. App. 2002); S.C. CODE ANN. §1-23-380 (5)(d) (2013).

### ARGUMENTS

**I. THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERRED IN FINDING AS FACT AND CONCLUDING AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT GARY JETER SUSTAINED A COMPENSABLE INJURY BY ACCIDENT ARISING OUT OF AND IN THE COURSE AND SCOPE OF HIS EMPLOYMENT WITH ALL MY SONS MOVING & STORAGE, INC. ON SEPTEMBER 23, 2011.**

***A. Respondent did not suffer a compensable injury to his back or neck.***

First, the substantial evidence supports the position that Respondent did not suffer a compensable injury to his back. The records from Respondent's initial visit with Dr. Bertolami on September 26, 2011 reveal that he had a "normal inspection" of the back and suffered no pain with straight leg raises. (APA, p. 2). Moreover, the diagnosis from that visit was a neck and thumb sprain, making no mention of the back or arm. (APA, p. 2). When Respondent returned to GHS on October 9, 2011, the only diagnosis was a neck strain. (APA, p. 12-14). It is evident that throughout the record, Respondent's complaints focused on his alleged neck pain. The only medical note mentioning an assessment regarding Respondent's lumbar pain was completed by a

nurse practitioner. (Respondent's Supplemental APA, pp. 25-28). Furthermore, upon review of the video displaying the incident, reasonable minds would conclude that being lifted by one's neck would not cause lower back pain, as Respondent has alleged.

Second, the medical evidence also does not support a finding that Respondent suffered a compensable neck injury as a result of his work incident. There is nothing in the record suggesting that Respondent has an acute neck problem that would cause disabling pain. Moreover, no medical provider has recommended surgical intervention. Respondent merely sustained a minor, temporary neck sprain. As a result, he underwent several diagnostic tests, which all reveal that Respondent suffers solely from mild multilevel degenerative disc disease, a condition commonly caused by aging. (APA, p. 16, 20A-20B). Further, Respondent has provided no medical or expert opinion demonstrating that Respondent's temporary neck sprain or mild multilevel degenerative disc disease are causally related to Respondent's work incident.

Pursuant to § 42-1-160(E) of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act, "in medically complex cases, an employee shall establish by *medical evidence* that the injury arose in the course of employment." (2013) (Emphasis added). South Carolina case law has established that the back is a complicated body part. McLeod v. Piggly Wiggly Carolina Co., 280 S.C. 466, 313 S.E.2d 38 (Ct. App. 1984). In McLeod v. Piggly Wiggly Carolina Co., the South Carolina Court of Appeals held that "we are concerned with the back, a much more complicated area of the body. The area of the body, the congenital defect and the type of injury sustained are factors which require a higher degree of expertise than was presented ...." Id. at 471, 40-41. In McLeod, the only evidence the employee had presented was his own testimony regarding the types of activities he could no longer engage in and a general practitioner's

testimony regarding his “nonexpert opinion” about the employee’s disability. Id. As a result, the McLeod court reversed for a redetermination of the award. Id. at 471, 41.

Similar to McLeod, who provided no medical evidence regarding his disability to his back, in the case at bar, Respondent has failed to establish by medical evidence that the minor neck strain or multilevel degenerative disc disease arose out of his work-related incident. Also similar to the facts in McLeod, Respondent merely relies on his own lay testimony regarding his pain and belief that his medical problems are related to his 2011 work incident. Therefore, considering South Carolina case law and statutory law requiring medical evidence in medically complex cases, the Commission erred in its determination that Respondent suffered a compensable back or neck injury.

Should the Court of Appeals find that Respondent suffered compensable injuries, Appellant alternatively takes the position that Respondent merely suffered a temporary neck sprain. (APA, p. 2, 13). Respondent was diagnosed with a neck sprain and a neck strain during both his visits at GHS (APA, p. 2, 13). Therefore, while Appellant submits that the Commission erred in holding that Respondent suffered compensable neck, back, and left arm injuries, if the Court affirms such holding, Appellant takes the position that Respondent’s injury is limited to his neck, and the Commission’s Order should be affirmed only in part.

***B. Respondent did not suffer a compensable injury to his left arm.***

The medical evidence supports the assertion that Respondent did not suffer an injury to his left arm. Although Respondent complained of numbness in his left arm, he was able to move his left arm with no difficulty when he treated with Dr. Bertolami on September 26, 2011. (APA, p. 1). The records reveal that there were no signs of cyanosis, clubbing, or edema. (APA,

p. 2). There were also no signs of sensory deficits. (APA, p. 2). The only diagnosis by a physician relative to Respondent's upper extremity was the thumb sprain. (APA, p. 2).

Despite the fact that Respondent may have complained of some arm numbness, such does not render the arm compensable, as the numbness is merely radicular pain radiating from Respondent's alleged neck pain. (APA, p. 14). Respondent complained of pain on the left side of his neck, so it is likely the left arm numbness is resulting from the left neck pain. (APA, p. 14). South Carolina courts comply with the situs of the injury approach, and have held that "our scheduled compensation scheme focuses on the site of the injury and not the resulting functional limitation." Therrell v. Jerry's Inc., 370 S.C. 22, 29, 633 S.E.2d 893, 897 (2006). In the case at issue, the situs of the injury is the neck. Despite the lack of medical evidence in the record showing that Respondent has suffered some functional limitation in his left arm, assuming *arguendo* that he has suffered some limitation, South Carolina case law mandates a compensability finding limited to the situs of the injury.

Considering the substantial evidence, Appellant respectfully requests that this Court reverse the finding of compensability relative to Respondent's alleged neck, back, and left arm injuries.

**II. THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERRED IN FINDING AS A FACT AND CONCLUDING AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT GARY JETER IS ENTITLED TO PAST AND ONGOING TEMPORARY TOTAL DISABILITY COMPENSATION UNTIL HE REACHES "MAXIMUM MEDICAL IMPROVEMENT" WITH RESPECT TO ALL OF HIS WORK INJURIES.**

Respondent is not entitled to temporary total disability benefits relative to his alleged injuries. There is no evidentiary support proving that Claimant is unable to work, and therefore is entitled to temporary compensation. Respondent provided no evidence that any medical

provider ever took him out of work or even placed him under any work restrictions. In fact, on September 26, 2011, Dr. Bertolami gave Respondent a work release form and did not excuse him from work. (APA, p. 4). Respondent is fully capable of working, as was demonstrated by his continuance of moving furniture at work the day of the incident and by his return to work the following day. (Hr'g. Tr. January 24, 2012, 41:40, 43: 6-8). Moreover, the medical evidence clearly corroborates the assertion that Claimant is able to work, as he suffers from no disabling injuries.

Assuming Respondent is restricted to working in a modified capacity, he is still able to continue working, even if he does undergo physical therapy. Therefore, if the Court finds that Respondent is entitled to temporary total disability benefits, Appellant submits that the benefits should be limited since Respondent was able to work in either a full or modified capacity.

Although Appellant takes the position that Respondent did not suffer any compensable injuries, if the Court holds otherwise and also finds that Respondent is entitled to temporary total disability benefits, Appellant submits that Respondent is only entitled to temporary total disability compensation relative to his alleged neck injury.

### **III. THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERRED IN FINDING AS FACT AND CONCLUDING AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT GARY JETER IS ENTITLED TO ONGOING MEDICAL TREATMENT FOR HIS ALLEGED BACK, NECK, AND LEFT ARM INJURIES.**

Pursuant to § 42-15-60 of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act, the employer shall provide medical treatment "for a period not exceeding ten weeks from the date of an injury...and for an additional time as in the judgment of the commission will tend to lessen the period of disability as evidenced by expert medical evidence stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty." (2013). Thus, Respondent is not entitled to ongoing medical care for his

alleged injuries to his back, neck, or left arm because there is no proof or medical evidence that supports the assertion that additional medical treatment is reasonable, necessary, or would tend to lessen Respondent's disability.

**IV. THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION LACKED SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION OVER THIS MATTER IN THE ABSENCE OF AN EMPLOYEE/EMPLOYER RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN GARY JETER AND STRATEGIC OUTSOURCING, INC., THE INSURED EMPLOYER.**

The South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission lacked jurisdiction over this matter because there was never an employee and employer relationship between Respondent and Strategic Outsourcing, Inc. (hereinafter SOI), the insured. The Commission's Coverage and Compliance records reflect that SOI, a professional employer organization, is the insured of Hartford Insurance Company of the Midwest (hereinafter Hartford).

According to Respondent's testimony, he was an employee of All My Sons on or about September 23, 2011, the date of his alleged injury (Hrg. Tr. January, 24, 2011, 20:6). Respondent's testimony in no way remotely implicates SOI as his employer. Respondent testified that his direction with respect to assignments and his ultimate termination was conducted by the President of All My Sons. Accordingly, the Commission's Orders designate All My Sons as Respondent's employer.


Further, the employment relationship between Respondent and All My Sons is evidenced by the W-2 Form issued by All My Sons. Additionally, the Forms 50 and 58 all demonstrate that Respondent was employed by All My Sons. No employee and employer relationship ever existed between Respondent and SOI. Therefore, the Commission erred as a matter of law and abused its discretion in finding that Hartford is the proper carrier in the absence of an employee and employer relationship between Respondent and SOI.

The issue of whether Respondent was an employee of SOI at the time he was injured is jurisdictional. Chavis v. Watkins, 256 S.C. 30, 180 S.E.2d 648 (1971). See also S.C. CODE ANN. § 42-1-140 (2013); § 42-1-150 (2013). The lack of an employee and employer relationship deprived the Commission of subject matter jurisdiction over this matter. Hence, the Commission's lack of jurisdiction over Appellant, in turn, prevents the Commission from ordering Appellant to pay Respondent temporary compensation or provide medical treatment relative to his alleged work-related injury.

**CONCLUSION**

For all of the foregoing reasons, Appellant respectfully submits that the Order of the Appellate Panel, which affirmed the Single Commissioner's Order, is contrary to South Carolina law and must, therefore, be set aside.