**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

**APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS'
COMPENSATION COMMISSION
Appellate Panel of South Carolina Workers'
Compensation Commission**

**Appellate Case No.: 2013-000764
WCC File No.: 1113278**

Gary Jeter, Jr, Employee, Respondent

v.

All My Sons Moving & Storage, Inc, Employer

AND

Hartford Insurance Company of the Midwest, Carrier, Defendants

Of Whom Hartford Insurance Company of the Midwest is the Appellant

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**Linda B. McKenzie, Esquire
BOWEN, MCKENZIE & BOWEN
Post Office Box 2547
Greenville, South Carolina 29602-2547
(864) 271-2270
Bar No.: 3854
lmckenzie@bmbfirm.com
Attorney for Respondent**

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

ARGUMENT I

I. WHETHER THE COURT SHOULD AFFIRM THE FINDING OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION THAT THE RESPONDENT SUSTAINED A COMPENSABLE INJURY BY ACCIDENT ARISING OUT OF AND IN THE COURSE OF HIS EMPLOYMENT WHILE WORKING FOR ALL MY SON'S MOVING AND STORAGE, INC. ON SEPTEMBER 23, 2011.

It is submitted that the Order of the Appellate Panel of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission should be affirmed with regard to the finding that the Claimant sustained a compensable injury arising out of and in the course of his employment. The law in South Carolina limits judicial review of workers' compensation Commission's Findings of Fact to whether there is substantial evidence to support the finding. Gadson v. Mikasa Corp., 368 S.C. 214, 628 S.E.2d 262 (Ct. App. 2006); Frame v. Resort Servs., Inc., 357 S.C. 520, 593 S.E.2d 491 (Ct. App. 2004); Corbin v. Kohler Co., 351 S.C. 613, 617, 571 S.E.2d 92, 94-95 (Ct. App. 2002). The Appellate Panel's decision must be affirmed when there is substantial evidence in the record. To support the decision Shuler v. Gregory Elec., 366 S.C. 435, 622 S.E.2d 569 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing Sharpe v. Case Produce, Inc., 336 S.C. 154, 519 S.E.2d 102 (1999)). It has been held that a reviewing Court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the administrative agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(A)(5)(d)(e); see also Hall v. United Rentals, Inc., 371 S.C. 69, 77, 636 S.E.2d 876, 881 (Ct. App. 2006). An Appellate Court may reverse or modify a decision of the Appellate Panel if the findings, conclusions, or decisions of the panel are "clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record." S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(A)(5)(e); Bass v. Kenco Group, 366 S.C. 450, 457, 622 S.E.2d 577, 580 (Ct. App. 2005); Burse v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control, 360 S.C. 135, 600 S.E.2d 80 (Ct. App. 2004) aff'd 369 S.C. 176, 631 S.E.2d 899 (2006).

The Appellate Court should not disturb the findings of fact found by the Workers' Compensation Commission Appellate Panel if they are supported by substantial evidence. Etheredge v. Monsanto Co., 349 S.C. 451, 454, 562 S.E.2d 679, 681 (Ct. App. 2002) (citing Hoxit v. Michelin Tire Corp., 304 S.C. 461, 405 S.E.2d 407 (1991)); Muir v. C.R. Bard, Inc., 336 S.C. 266, 519 S.E.2d 583 (Ct. App. 1999). The Court has held that the possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent an administrative agency's findings from being supported by substantial evidence. Sharpe, 336 S.C. at 160, 519 S.E.2d at 105; Smith v. NCCI Inc., 369 S.C. 236 631 S.E.2d 268 (Ct. App. 2006); DuRant v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, 361 S.C. 416, 604 S.E.2d 704 (Ct. App. 2004).

It is well established that the Workers' Compensation Commission Appellate Panel is the ultimate fact finder in Workers' Compensation cases. They are not bound by the Single Commissioner's findings of fact but are free to weigh evidence and make their own findings. Bass v. Isochem, 365 S.C. 454, 617 S.E.2d at 369 (Ct. App 2005); Frame, 357 S.C. at 528, 593 S.E.2d at 495; Muir, 336 S.C. at 281, 519 S.E.2d at 591. The final determination of witness credibility and the weight assigned to the evidence is reserved to the Workers' Compensation Commission Appellate Panel. Shealy v. Aiken County, 341 S.C. 448, 455, 535 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2000); Frame, 357 S.C. at 528, 593 S.E.2d at 495. Where there are conflicts in the evidence over a factual issue, the findings of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission Appellate Panel are conclusive. Brown v. Greenwood Mills, 366 S.C. at 379, 622 S.E.2d at 546 (Ct. App 2005); Etheredge v. Monsanto, 349 S.C. 451, 562 S.E.2d 679 (Ct. App 2002); see also Mullinax v. Winn Dixie Stores, Inc., 318 S.C. 431, 458 S.E.2d 76 (Ct. App. 1995) ("Where the medical evidence conflicts, the findings of fact of the [Appellate Panel] are conclusive.")

The findings of the Appellate Panel are presumed correct and will be set aside only if unsupported by substantial evidence. Bass v. Kenco Group, 366 S.C. 450, 622 S.E.2d 577; Frame, 357 S.C. at 528, 593 S.E.2d at 495; Broughton v. South of the Border 336 SC 488, 520, SE2d 634 (Ct. App 1999), 336 S.C. at 496, 520 S.E.2d at 637. The Appellate Court is prohibited from overturning findings of fact of the Appellate Panel unless there is no reasonable probability the facts could be as related by the witness upon whose testimony the finding was based. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. South Carolina Second Injury Fund, 611 S.E.2d 297, 363 S.C. 612 (Ct. App. 2005) cert. denied July 2007; Hargrove v. Titan Text. Co., 360 S.C 276, 599 S.E.2d 604; Etheredge, 349 S.C. 455-56, 562 S.E.2d at 681. The Appellate Panel's factual findings will normally be upheld; however, such a finding may not be based upon surmise, conjecture, or speculation, but must be founded on evidence of sufficient substance to afford a reasonable basis for it. Tiller v. Nat'l Health Care Ctr. of Sumter, 334 S.C. 333, 339, 513 S.E.2d 843, 845 (1999); Muir, 336 S.C. at 282, 519 S.E.2d at 591; Sharpe v. Case Produce Co., 329 S.C. 534, 543, 495 S.E.2d 790, 794 (Ct. App. 1997) rev'd on other grounds.

It is contended that the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission correctly found that the Respondent sustained an injury arising out of and in the course of his employment on September 23, 2011. Submitted into evidence was video that shows the employer lifting the Respondent by his neck and dropping him back onto a chair. The Respondent testified as to the injury and the Appellants did not offer any evidence to contradict this testimony. The evidence before the Commission established that the Respondent had not previously been treated by a doctor for arthritis or pain in his spine. (TR p 22) He had never been placed on any medication for pain in his spine, neck, or arm prior to this accident. (TR p. 22) Nor had anyone previously diagnosed him or taken him out of work due to any physical problems. (TR p. 24-25) The

Respondent testified that he began work at 9:30 in the morning. He was seated in the office of his employer as indicated in the video, when he asked his employer if he was eligible for a raise. He testified that the employer told him he would give him a raise and at that time grabbed him by the neck and lifted him from the chair saying, "How high to you want to go?" (TR p. 27) The Respondent testified that he got up, left the office and went to work; however, he only worked a couple hours because he was in pain in his neck, (TR p 32) and in his lower back. (TR p. 32) He also testified that he reported the injuries went home and on the next work day requested referral for medical treatment. His request was denied.

The medical evidence establishes the Respondent went to the emergency room at Greenville Memorial System, September 26, 2011. (TR p. 34-35) He gave a history of an onset of pain beginning Friday before when his boss jerked him by the neck. His complaints were pain in the neck, lower back, left thumb and hand. (APA 2) He was referred to an orthopedist. (APA 8) and placed on anti-inflammatories and muscle relaxer medication. (APA 8, 10, 11) He was later seen on October 9, 2011 at the Greenville Memorial Emergency Room continuing to complain of problems with left arm and tingling in left upper extremity. The report makes mention of the earlier evaluations and referral to the orthopedist. (APA 12, 13, 14) On November 6, 2011 he had a cervical CT scan that revealed mild degenerative changes in the area of the neck along with disc bulging which produced a mild degree of central canal stenosis C3-4 and C5-6. (APA 16) At the November 6, 2011 hospital visit the doctors provided the Respondent with information about herniated disc. (APA 19) He was again given an orthopedic referral to Southeastern Neurosurgical and Spine Institute. (APA 20) In addition to this the Respondent testified at the hearing that since the accident he has had pain in his lower back, pain

between his shoulder blades, difficulty turning his head, headaches, pain in his neck and left shoulder, and pain down into his arm. (TR p 36, 35)

The South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission found based upon the testimony of the Respondent and the medical evidence presented above that he did have a compensable accident and sustained a compensable injuries. It is the Respondent's contention that the substantial evidence supports the Commission's finding that the injuries arose out of the course of his employment (SC Code Ann. 42-1-160) and are therefore compensable. An injury arises out of employment where there is apparent to the rational mind, when considering all of the circumstances a relationship between the conditions under which the job was performed and the resulting injury. Jennings v. Chambers Development Co. (SC App. 1999) 335 SC 249, 516 S.E.2d 453. Rehearing denied, Cert. Denied. An injury is in the course of employment when it occurs within a time period and at a place the employee is reasonable expected to be because of his employment. Baggott v. Southern Music Inc. 330 SC 1, 496 S.E.2d 852 (SC 1998) Rehearing denied. It is submitted that the Workers' Compensation Commission correctly found that the Respondent was in a place he was expected to be beginning his work day, that the assault by his employer arose out of his employment and it is submitted that the Findings of Fact and Rulings of Law are supported by the substantial evidence in the record.

AGRUMENT II

II. WHETHER THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION CORRECTLY FOUND AS A FACT AND CONCLUDED AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT THE RESPONDENT IS ENTITLED TO TEMPORARY TOTAL COMPENSATION FROM THE DATE OF THE ACCIDENT, SEPTEMBER 23, 2011, UNTIL AUGUST 1, 2012 AND CONTINUING THEREAFTER UNTIL SUCH TIME AS HE IS FOUND BY THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION TO HAVE REACHED MAXIMUM MEDICAL IMPROVEMENT OR RETURNED TO WORK SUITABLE TO HIS CAPACITY.

It is submitted that the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission as the trier of facts is the agency charged with determining findings of fact in this Workers' Compensation claim. The Commission found as a fact and ruled as a matter of law that the Respondent is entitled to past and ongoing temporary total compensation. Stated previously the Administrative Procedures Act established the "Substantial Evidence Rule" as the standard for judicial reviews of decisions of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission. The Respondent contends that the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record supports the finding of the Commission that the Respondent has been unable to work since his accident on September 23, 2011 and is entitled to continuing temporary total compensation until such time as he is found to have returned to work suitable to his capacity or reached maximum medical improvement. (SC Code Section 1-23-380)

Greenville Hospital Systems medical report from September 26, 2011 (APA 1 pg. 2) establishes that the Respondent was seen with a complaint of neck, lower back, left thumb and hand pain. He gave a history of being grabbed by the neck and lifted off a chair. Doctors diagnosed his symptoms as being severe. They noted tenderness present in the cervical spine at C2, C3, and C4. With regard to his back the doctor stated, "There is paraspinal tenderness, there is paraspinal tenderness in the right lower back area." He was released with a wrist brace

advised to wear it twelve hours on then take it off for twelve hours and to see an orthopedist within two to three days. On November 16, 2011 he was seen at University Medical Group. The doctor at that time stated, "Current work status patient has been out of work since September 26, 2011 due to this injury." (APA 3 p. 25) They noted neck pain into the left arm and thumb. (pg. 26) Doctor's treatment recommendation was supervised physical therapy for the low back pain as well as activity modification. The doctor indicated this was to include no bending or lifting. (pg. 27) It is submitted that under the Workers' Compensation Act the defendants had a duty to provide the Respondent with the treatment order by the physicians they failed to provide treatment and therefore the claimant has been unable to follow through with physical therapy and return doctor appointments. Further, the doctors ordered work restrictions, which included no bending or lifting. Since the Respondent's employment was packing and moving he was required to bend, stoop and lift on a continuous basis. Modified work was not provided by the employer and therefore it is contended that the Respondent is entitled to temporary total compensation as ordered by the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission. If an employee is on light duty and the employer does not provide light duty he is entitled to temporary total compensation as ordered by the Commission.

AGRUMENT III

III. WHETHER THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION'S ORDER FINDING AS FACT AND CONCLUDING AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT THE RESPONDENT SUSTAINED INJURY TO HIS BACK, NECK, AND LEFT ARM SHOULD BE AFFIRMED BASED UPON SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE

The South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission found that as a result of the injury by accident arising out of and in the course of the Respondent employment he was entitled to further medical treatment for his lower back, neck, and left arm. (The issue of compensability of headaches was left for a later determination) The Respondent initially received medical care from Greenville Hospital System at Greenville Memorial Emergency Room. Thereafter, he was referred to Southeastern Neurosurgical and Spine Institute. The Workers' Compensation Commission found the Respondent was entitled to ongoing medical care for his work related injuries to the neck, left arm, and back. Further, that he had not reached maximum medical improvement and that the further medical care and treatment, most probably, would tend to lessen the period of the Claimant's disability as defined by SC Code Ann. 42-15-60. In the case of Dodge v. Bruccoli, Clark, Layman, Inc. 334 SC 570 4, 514 S.E.2d 593 (SC App. 1999) the Court held that the medical provisions of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act allows the Workers' Compensation Commission to award medical benefits beyond the ten weeks set in the statute from the date of the injury when the Commission determines such medical treatment would tend to lessen the period of disability. When the Commission finds that further medical care is necessary and orders it the Court has held implicit in the award is a finding that additional medical treatment will tend to lessen the period of disability, for on no other ground could liability for additional treatment be made. See Dykes v. Daniels Const. Co. 262 SC 98, 202 S.E.2d 646 (1974)

It is contended that throughout this file the evidence establishes that the Respondent is entitled to further medical care and treatment as found by the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission. The Respondent was initially seen in the Greenville Hospital System Emergency Room on September 26, 2011. At that time, the doctors noted that as a result of the accident he had neck, lower back, left thumb and hand pain. (APA 1 pg. 2) They noted tenderness in his right lower back as well as C2, C3 and C4 of his cervical spine. The hospital ordered referral to an orthopedic and use of a hand brace and medication. (APA 1 pg. 4) The Respondent could not obtain orthopedic care as the employer failed to provide it as required by law; therefore, on October 9, 2011, (APA pg. 12) he returned to the emergency room complaining of arm pain and swelling. They also noted he had complaints of neck injury and neck pain with radiation into his back. (APA 13) He had pain on range of motion as well as continued tenderness and neck pain. (APA 13) The nurse indicated that the he was complaining of neck pain down the middle of his spine into his left hand which felt numb. The Claimant was seen on November 16, 2011 (APA 3) at University Medical Group they ordered further medical treatment to include physical therapy, "I have recommended to him he undergo a course of supervised PT for his low back with our manual spine therapist at Proaxis to focus on core strengthening, back strengthening, pelvic stabilization exercise. I provided the patient with information on back care and we discussed activity modification including no bending, lifting." We also discussed anti-inflammatory measures including NSAID and the use of ice alternating with heat. If the patient fails to respond to a course of PT or symptoms worsen he understands he is to notify me. (APA 3)

It is submitted that since the Claimant was unable to undergo the treatment recommended by the physician due to denial of benefits by the Workers' Compensation Carrier that the Commission was correct in finding that he entitled to further care and treatment.

ARGUMENT IV

IV. WHETHER THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION HAS SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION OVER THIS CASE.

Respondent, Gary Jeter, Jr., filed a workers' compensation claim against All My Sons Moving and Storage, Inc.. It is submitted that the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission does have subject matter jurisdiction over this claim. The South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act was enacted in 1936 primarily to provide protection to injured workers. Further, the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission was established to decide work related claims. "The Workers' Compensation Act is a remedial statute it's primary objective being to create and preserve rights of employees who may sustain personal injuries during the course of their employment." McLaine v. Carolina Power and Light Co. 1959, 172 F. Supp. 273